

Australian Government
Australian Law Reform Commission

# Pathways to Justice—An Inquiry into the Incarceration Rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples

SUMMARY REPORT

ALRC Summary Report 133

December 2017

This Summary Report reflects the law as at 1 December 2017.

The Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC) was established on 1 January 1975 by the *Law Reform Commission Act 1973* (Cth) and reconstituted by the *Australian Law Reform Commission Act 1996* (Cth).

The office of the ALRC is at Level 40, MLC Centre, 19 Martin Place, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia.

Postal Address: GPO Box 3708 Sydney NSW 2001

Telephone: within Australia (02) 8238 6333 International: +61 2 8238 6333 Facsimile: within Australia (02) 8238 6363 International: +61 2 8238 6363

Email: info@alrc.gov.au

Website: <u>www.alrc.gov.au</u>

ALRC publications are available to view or download free of charge on the ALRC website: <u>www.alrc.gov.au/publications</u>. If you require assistance, please contact the ALRC.

ISBN: 978-0-9943202-9-2

Citation: Australian Law Reform Commission, *Pathways to Justice–Inquiry into the Incarceration Rates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples*, Summary Report No 133 (2017)

Commission Reference: ALRC Summary Report 133, 2017 © Commonwealth of Australia 2017

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce this material in whole or part, subject to acknowledgement of the source, for your personal, noncommercial use or use within your organisation. Requests for further authorisation should be directed to the ALRC.

Printed by Fineline Print & Copy



Australian Law Reform Commission

The Hon Christian Porter MP Attorney-General of Australia Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600

22 December 2017

Dear Attorney-General

# Inquiry into the Incarceration Rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples

On 10 February 2017, the Australian Law Reform Commission received Terms of Reference to undertake an inquiry into the incarceration rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. On behalf of the Members of the Commission involved in this Inquiry, and in accordance with the *Australian Law Reform Commission Act* 1996, I am pleased to present you with the Final Report on this reference, *Pathways to Justice—Inquiry into the Incarceration Rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples* (ALRC Report 133, 2017).

Yours sincerely,

Helin Throadis

Professor Helen Rhoades Acting President

His Honour Judge Matthew Myers AM Adjunct Professor Faculty of Law University of New South Wales Commissioner in Charge

# Acknowledgment of Country

The ALRC recognises the unique and important position of Australia's First Peoples. The ALRC pays respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Traditional Owners and Elders, past and present, across Australia, and extends that respect to all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. The ALRC acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures are complex and diverse with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures having existed within Australia continuously for some 65,000 years. The ALRC further acknowledges the vital contribution that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, their traditions, and cultures have made, and continue to make, to this country. Finally, the ALRC recognises Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the traditional custodians of the land on which this Inquiry has been held.



# Contents

Terms of Reference	3
Summary Report	7
Disproportionate incarceration rate	7
The case for reform	9
Overview of the Report	12
The law reform process	20
Outcomes	21
Recommendations	23
Participants	29
Appendix 1. Consultations	33

# ALRC inquiry into the incarceration rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

I, Senator the Hon George Brandis QC, Attorney-General of Australia, refer to the Australian Law Reform Commission, an inquiry into the over-representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in our prisons.

It is acknowledged that while laws and legal frameworks are an important factor contributing to over-representation, there are many other social, economic, and historic factors that also contribute. It is also acknowledged that while the rate of imprisonment of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, and their contact with the criminal justice system - both as offenders and as victims - significantly exceeds that of non-Indigenous Australians, the majority of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people never commit criminal offences.

# Scope of the reference

- 1. In developing its law reform recommendations, the Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC) should have regard to:
  - a. Laws and legal frameworks including legal institutions and law enforcement (police, courts, legal assistance services and prisons), that contribute to the incarceration rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and inform decisions to hold or keep Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in custody, specifically in relation to:
    - i. the nature of offences resulting in incarceration,
    - ii. cautioning,
    - iii. protective custody,
    - iv. arrest,
    - v. remand and bail,
    - vi. diversion,
    - vii. sentencing, including mandatory sentencing, and
    - viii. parole, parole conditions and community reintegration.
  - b. Factors that decision-makers take into account when considering (1)(a)(i-viii), including:
    - i. community safety,
    - ii. availability of alternatives to incarceration,

- iii. the degree of discretion available to decision-makers,
- iv. incarceration as a last resort, and
- v. incarceration as a deterrent and as a punishment.
- c. Laws that may contribute to the rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples offending and including, for example, laws that regulate the availability of alcohol, driving offences and unpaid fines.
- d. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women and their rate of incarceration.
- e. Differences in the application of laws across states and territories.
- f. Other access to justice issues including the remoteness of communities, the availability of and access to legal assistance and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander language and sign interpreters.
- 2. In conducting its Inquiry, the ALRC should have regard to existing data and research<sup>[1]</sup> in relation to:
  - a. best practice laws, legal frameworks that reduce the rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration,
  - b. pathways of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples through the criminal justice system, including most frequent offences, relative rates of bail and diversion and progression from juvenile to adult offending,
  - c. alternatives to custody in reducing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration and/or offending, including rehabilitation, therapeutic alternatives and culturally appropriate community led solutions,
  - d. the impacts of incarceration on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, including in relation to employment, housing, health, education and families, and
  - e. the broader contextual factors contributing to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration including:
    - i. the characteristics of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prison population,
    - ii. the relationships between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offending and incarceration and inter-generational trauma, loss of culture, poverty, discrimination, alcohol and drug use, experience of violence, including family violence, child abuse and neglect, contact with child protection and welfare systems, educational access and performance, cognitive and psychological factors, housing circumstances and employment, and
    - iii. the availability and effectiveness of culturally appropriate programs that intend to reduce Aboriginal; and Torres Strait Islander offending and incarceration.

- 3. In undertaking this Inquiry, the ALRC should identify and consider other reports, inquiries and action plans including but not limited to:
  - a. the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody,
  - b. the Royal Commission into the Protection and Detention of Children in the Northern Territory (due to report 1 August 2017),
  - c. Senate Standing Committee on Finance and Public Administration's Inquiry into Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Experience of Law Enforcement and Justice Services,
  - d. Senate Standing Committee on Community Affairs' inquiry into Indefinite Detention of People with Cognitive and Psychiatric impairment in Australia,
  - e. Senate Standing Committee on Indigenous Affairs inquiry into Harmful Use of Alcohol in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Communities,
  - f. reports of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner,
  - g. the ALRC's inquiries into Family violence and Family violence and Commonwealth laws, and
  - h. the National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children 2010-2022.

The ALRC should also consider the gaps in available data on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration and consider recommendations that might improve data collection.

4. In conducting its inquiry the ALRC should also have regard to relevant international human rights standards and instruments.

# Consultation

5. In undertaking this inquiry, the ALRC should identify and consult with relevant stakeholders including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their organisations, state and territory governments, relevant policy and research organisations, law enforcement agencies, legal assistance service providers and the broader legal profession, community service providers and the Australian Human Rights Commission.

# Timeframe

- 6. The ALRC should provide its report to the Attorney-General by 22 December 2017.
- 1. It is not the intention that the Australian Law Reform Commission will undertake independent research or evaluation of existing programs, noting that this falls outside its legislative responsibilities and expertise.

# **Summary Report**

# Contents

Disproportionate incarceration rate	7
The task of this Inquiry	9
The case for reform	9
Equality before the law	9
Reducing the incarceration of women	9
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander leadership	10
Economic and social costs of incarceration	11
Overview of the Report	12
Context	12
Incidence	12
Justice reinvestment	12
Bail	13
Sentencing and Aboriginality	14
Community-based sentencing	15
Mandatory sentencing	16
Prison programs and parole	16
Access to justice	17
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women	17
Fines and driver licences	18
Alcohol	18
Police accountability	19
Child protection and adult incarceration	20
Criminal justice targets and Aboriginal Justice Agreements	20
The law reform process	20
Community consultation	21
Appointed experts	21
Outcomes	21

# **Disproportionate incarceration rate**

Although Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults make up around 2% of the national population, they constitute 27% of the national prison population.<sup>1</sup> In 2016, around 20 in every 1,000 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people were incarcerated. Over-representation is both a persistent and growing problem—Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration rates increased 41% between 2006

<sup>1</sup> Data in this Executive Summary is drawn from, and more fully explained in ch 3.

and 2016, and the gap between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and non-Indigenous imprisonment rates over that decade widened.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women constitute 34% of the female prison population. In 2016, the rate of imprisonment of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women (464.8 per 100,000) was not only higher than that of non-Indigenous women (21.9 per 100,000), but was also higher than the rate of imprisonment of non-Indigenous men (291.1 per 100,000).

In 1991, the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody (RCIADIC) found that the Aboriginal population was grossly over-represented in custody. It noted that 'Aboriginal people are in gross disproportionate numbers, compared with non-Aboriginal people, in both police and prison custody and it is this fact that provides the immediate explanation for the disturbing number of Aboriginal deaths in custody'.<sup>2</sup>

The RCIADIC looked at indicators of disadvantage that contributed to this disproportionate representation, including that 'Aboriginal people were dispossessed of their land without benefit of treaty, agreement or compensation'.<sup>3</sup>

Other indicators identified by the RCIADIC were

the economic position of Aboriginal people, the health situation, their housing requirements, their access or non-access to an economic base including land and employment, their situation in relation to education; the part played by alcohol and other drugs—and its effects.<sup>4</sup>

Over the 26 years since the RCIADIC, multiple resources have been dedicated to remedying the factors identified by the RCIADIC and to reducing the disproportionate incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

However, in 2016, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people were 12.5 times more likely to be in prison than non-Indigenous people, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women were 21.2 times more likely to be in prison than non-Indigenous women.

The submission to this Inquiry from Jesuit Social Services summed up a common assessment: 'The over-representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in the criminal justice system is a national disgrace'.<sup>5</sup>

While the statistics concerning the disproportionate incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are alarming, it is important to bear in mind that the majority of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people never commit a criminal offence.

<sup>2</sup> Ibid vol 1, [9.4.1].

<sup>3</sup> Ibid vol 1, [1.4.2].

<sup>4</sup> Ibid vol 1, [1.3.6].

<sup>5</sup> Jesuit Social Services, Submission 100.

# The task of this Inquiry

This Inquiry has one principal but constrained purpose. It is to inquire into the overrepresentation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in prison and develop recommendations for reform of laws and legal frameworks to reduce their disproportionate incarceration.

The ALRC has had regard to the research, reports, inquiries and action plans referred to in the Terms of Reference. They include consideration of the much larger historical, social and economic context that contributes to the disproportionate incarceration rate, which are both a result and a further cause of disadvantage for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

While it is difficult to disentangle historical, social and economic disadvantage from legal issues that contribute to the incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, the recommendations made in this Report focus principally on criminal laws and legal frameworks, as required by the Terms of Reference. The ALRC has confined its scope to recommendations relating to the incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Strait Islander adults.

# The case for reform

# Equality before the law

This Inquiry involves fundamental questions about achieving substantive, not just formal, equality before the law. Formal equality suggests that all people should be treated the same regardless of their differences. Substantive equality is 'premised on the basis that rights, entitlements, opportunities and access are not equally distributed throughout society and that a one size fits all approach will not achieve equality'.<sup>6</sup>

The ALRC does not propose a 'parallel system' of justice for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, as warned against by the Institute of Public Affairs.<sup>7</sup> However, it recognises, as Brennan J observed in *Gerhardy v Brown*, that formal equality may be 'an engine of oppression destructive of human dignity if the law entrenches inequalities "in the political, economic, social, cultural or any other field of public life".<sup>8</sup> Achieving substantive and not formal equality before the law includes, for example, the consideration upon sentencing of the unique and systemic factors affecting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders. It also includes not only consistency in the provision of sentence options and diversion and support programs across the country, but also ensuring that these are culturally appropriate.

## **Reducing the incarceration of women**

Some additional factors have to be taken into account with regard to the incarceration of women. One of these factors is the impact of family violence. Available research

<sup>6</sup> Australian Human Rights Commission, *The Declaration Dialogue Series: Paper No 5—Equality and Non-Discrimination* (2013) 8.

<sup>7</sup> Institute of Public Affairs, Submission 58.

<sup>8</sup> Gerhardy v Brown (1985) 159 CLR 70, 129.

suggests that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women experience family violence at a higher rate than the broader Australian community, and that the majority of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in prison have experienced physical or sexual abuse.<sup>9</sup>

The Human Rights Law Centre and Change the Record Coalition have noted:

The overwhelming majority of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in prison are survivors of physical and sexual violence. Many also struggle with housing insecurity, poverty, mental illness, disability and the effects of trauma. ... Criminal justice systems across Australia continue to be largely unresponsive to the unique experiences, circumstances and strengths of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women.<sup>10</sup>

Criminal justice reform is only one aspect of the range of strategies required to address family violence in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, with National Family Violence Prevention Legal Services suggesting that:

a combination of preventative education, community engagement, support services and legal assistance (as both early intervention and response) are all crucial parts of the continuum of services to address and reduce family violence against Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women and children.<sup>11</sup>

An additional important consideration is the effect that incarceration of women can have on families and communities. As the Human Rights Law Centre and Change the Record Coalition have further noted:

Some 80% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in prison are mothers. Many women in the justice system care not only for their own children, but for the children of others and family who are sick and elderly. Prosecuting and imprisoning women is damaging for Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander children, who are already over-represented in child protection and youth justice systems.<sup>12</sup>

The number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander parents—particularly women—in prison has a direct effect on the number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in out-of-home care, which is a recognised pathway to youth detention and adult offending.

#### Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander leadership

A recurring observation made during consultations and in submissions to this Inquiry was that solutions should be developed and led by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Good examples are the Koori courts in Victoria and community justice groups of Elders, which support and assist Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people throughout the criminal justice process. The ALRC was told that some of the most effective solutions to local problems (such as diversion programs and post release assistance) have been developed locally by, or in conjunction with, local Aboriginal

<sup>9</sup> See chs 2 and 11.

<sup>10</sup> Human Rights Law Centre and Change the Record Coalition, above n 19, 5.

<sup>11</sup> National Family Violence Prevention Legal Services, *Submission* 77.

<sup>12</sup> Human Rights Law Centre and Change the Record Coalition, above n 19, 5.

and Torres Strait Islander people. The corollary is that what works in one community (such as alcohol restrictions) may not be the best solution in another.

Taking a local approach to local problems can create difficulties for Australian governments, which necessarily plan for centrally developed and imposed national, state or territory-wide programs. Without acceptance and participation by the local communities, those programs can fail or, at least, not fully meet their objectives.

The ALRC notes the importance of governments working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and communities to implement the range of strategies recommended to reduce Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration. For example, the ALRC has recommended that state and territory governments work with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations to: develop and implement culturally appropriate bail support programs and diversion options; develop options to reduce the imposition of fines and infringement notices; and develop prison programs that address offending behaviours and prepare people for release. One way to achieve local involvement is through Aboriginal Justice Agreements. Justice reinvestment also emphasises tailored, local solutions to the particular drivers of incarceration in a community.

#### Economic and social costs of incarceration

The implementation of the recommendations in this Report, including the provision of more diversion, support and rehabilitation programs before, during and after incarceration, will require additional resources.

However, the cost of implementing these recommendations must be considered against the cost of incarcerating Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people at disproportionate levels.<sup>13</sup> Incarceration is expensive: it has been estimated that the total justice system costs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration in 2016 were \$3.9 billion. When the costs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration are broadened beyond those directly related to the criminal justice system to include other economic costs, the estimated cost rises to \$7.9 billion. As well as the cost of imprisonment to the State, incarceration can also have a broader social cost, particularly when concentrated in a particular community.

The recommendations in this Report can be said to take a 'justice reinvestment' approach—broadly, the notion that there should be a redirection of criminal justice resources from incarceration to strategies that can better address the causes of offending. These strategies can be both within and outside of the criminal justice system. Given the significant and growing economic and social costs of incarceration, the ALRC suggests that there is a compelling case for Australian governments collectively to invest in developing appropriate and more effective alternatives to imprisonment for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

<sup>13</sup> The cost of incarceration is more fully discussed in ch 4.

# **Overview of the Report**

# Context

In 1991, the RCIADIC found that the fundamental causes for over-representation of Aboriginal people in custody were not located *within* the criminal justice system. Such a claim has been echoed many times since. In **Chapter 2**, the ALRC places the disproportionate incarceration rates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples today in social and historical context. It briefly traces the history of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' contact with the criminal justice system.

The ALRC also provides a contemporary picture of the impact of the social determinants of incarceration on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, including education and employment, health and disability, housing and homelessness, and child protection and youth justice. It highlights some of the many inquiries, initiatives and recommendations that have sought to address the disadvantage experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

#### Incidence

**Chapter 3** sets out data provided to the ALRC by researchers at Curtin University on the characteristics of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners. The data chart over-representation from charges before the courts to the types of sentences imposed for certain offending. The data show that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are over-represented in the national prison population.

Over-representation increases with the stages of the criminal justice system. In 2016, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people were seven times more likely than non-Indigenous people to be charged with a criminal offence and appear before the courts; 11 times more likely to be held in prison on remand awaiting trial or sentence, and 12.5 times more likely to receive a sentence of imprisonment. This is a cyclical problem, with 76% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners having been in prison before.

Up to 45% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders sentenced in 2015–2016 received a sentence of imprisonment of less than six months. Few received a community-based sentence.

# Justice reinvestment

Justice reinvestment involves the redirection of resources from the criminal justice system into local communities that have a high concentration of incarceration and contact with the criminal justice system.

A justice reinvestment approach suggests that resources are better directed—and indeed savings will be made—by reinvesting a portion of this expenditure to address the causes of offending in places where there is a high concentration of offenders. It uses place-based, community-led initiatives to address offending and incarceration, applying a distinct data-driven methodology to inform strategies for reform.

12

Summary	Report
---------	--------

In **Chapter 4**, the ALRC outlines two key reasons why justice reinvestment holds particular promise in addressing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration. First, it has long been recognised that the key drivers of incarceration for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are external to the justice system, and justice reinvestment involves a commitment to invest in front-end strategies to prevent criminalisation. Second, justice reinvestment, as a place-based approach, emphasises working in partnership with communities to develop and implement reforms, and thus accords with evidence that effective policy change to address Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander disadvantage requires partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

The implementation of justice reinvestment requires significant technical expertise. To provide such expertise, the ALRC recommends that Commonwealth, state and territory governments should support the establishment of an independent justice reinvestment body to promote the reinvestment of resources from the criminal justice system to local community development initiatives to address the drivers of crime and incarceration, and to provide expertise in the methodology of justice reinvestment. While justice reinvestment should remain community-led, a national body with expertise in justice reinvestment methodology could assist in providing technical assistance to local sites wishing to implement justice reinvestment.

The body should be a national one because justice reinvestment involves a holistic approach to the drivers of incarceration, which extend beyond justice-related drivers to social and community drivers of offending. These policy priorities extend across all levels of government.

The ALRC envisages the justice reinvestment body's role to be limited: principally, to providing technical assistance in the implementation of a justice reinvestment approach. It would not have the authority to impose reinvestment plans, nor to direct the allocation of resources. Therefore, the ALRC further recommends that Commonwealth, state and territory governments support place-based justice reinvestment initiatives, through resourcing, facilitating access to data, and facilitating participation by, and coordination between, relevant government departments.

#### Bail

Up to one third of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in prison are held on remand awaiting trial or sentence. A large proportion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people held on remand do not receive a custodial sentence upon conviction, or may be sentenced to time served while on remand. This particularly affects female Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners, and suggests that many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners may be held on remand for otherwise low-level offending.

In **Chapter 5**, the ALRC discusses how irregular employment, previous convictions for often low-level offending, and a lack of secure accommodation can disadvantage some accused Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people when applying for bail. Furthermore, it notes that when bail is granted, cultural obligations may conflict with commonly issued bail conditions—such as curfews and exclusion orders—leading to

breach of bail conditions, revocation of bail and subsequent imprisonment. This issue has continued despite existing laws and legal frameworks that enable some bail authorities to take cultural considerations into account.

The recommendations in **Chapter 5** seek to enable Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples accused of low-level offending to be granted bail in circumstances where risk can be appropriately managed.

As a means of decreasing the number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in prison held on remand, the ALRC recommends that bail laws should require bail authorities to consider issues and circumstances arising from a person's Aboriginality when making bail determinations. Victoria introduced a model provision in 2010, which the ALRC recommends be adopted in other state and territory bail statutes. The ALRC further recommends that state and territory governments work with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and legal bodies to produce usage guidelines for the judiciary and legal practitioners, and to identify gaps in the provision of bail supports.

The ALRC stresses the interdependency of these recommendations, and encourages governments to consider them a holistic package for bail law reform.

#### Sentencing and Aboriginality

Sentencing decisions are crucial in determining whether a person goes to prison, and for how long. The sentencing decision may be affected by the seriousness of an offence and any subjective characteristics of an offender, including criminal history.

In **Chapter 6**, the ALRC recognises that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders are more likely to have prior convictions and to have served a term of imprisonment than non-Indigenous offenders, and that this history may influence the sentencing decision. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders may have also experienced trauma that is unique to their Aboriginality, which in some instances may be criminogenic (that is, causing or likely to cause criminal behaviour). This could include, for instance, direct or indirect experience of the Stolen Generation, loss of culture, and displacement. Further, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people who have experienced this type of trauma may distrust police and government agencies.

Sentencing courts are able to consider the relevance and impact of systemic and background factors affecting an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander offender when taking into account subjective characteristics at sentencing, but are not required to do so. In *Bugmy v The Queen*, the High Court determined that taking judicial notice of the systemic background of deprivation of Aboriginal offenders may be 'antithetical to individualised justice'.<sup>14</sup>

For reasons of fairness, certainty, and continuity in sentencing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders, the majority of stakeholders to this Inquiry supported the introduction of provisions requiring sentencing courts to take a two-step approach:

<sup>14</sup> Bugmy v The Queen (2013) 249 CLR 571.

first, to take into account the unique systemic and background factors affecting Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander peoples; and then to proceed to review evidence as to the effect on that particular individual offender.

The ALRC recommends the introduction of such provisions. The ALRC further recommends that in the courts of superior jurisdiction (District/County and Supreme Courts), taking account of unique systemic and background factors should be done through the submission of 'Indigenous Experience Reports', ideally prepared by independent Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations. In the courts of summary jurisdiction (Local or Magistrates Courts) where offenders are sentenced for lower level offending, and time and resources are limited, the ALRC recommends that courts accept evidence in support of the provisions through less formal methods.

The recommendations in **Chapter 6** aim to ensure sentencing courts are provided with all the information relevant to the unique experiences and systemic factors affecting Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander peoples, and their impact on the offender. This would enable courts to impose the most appropriate sentence on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders, taking into account all of the circumstances, including any available and appropriate community-based options.

#### **Community-based sentencing**

Each state and territory, and the Commonwealth, have legislation that guides the sentencing process and all have sentencing regimes enabling courts to order that certain offenders serve their sentences in the community. Community-based sentences have some significant advantages over full-time imprisonment where the offender does not pose a demonstrated risk to the community.

Despite the advantages of community-based sentences, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are less likely to receive a community-based sentence than non-Indigenous offenders and as a result may be more likely to end up in prison for the same offence. In addition, even when Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are given a community-based sentence, they may be more likely to breach the conditions of the community-based sentence and may end up in prison as a result.

In **Chapter 7**, the ALRC focuses on reform to community-based sentence regimes to make them more accessible and flexible for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders, to provide greater support and to mitigate against breach.

The ALRC also examines short and suspended sentences of imprisonment, both of which can have significant negative consequences for the offender. Nevertheless, unless access to community-based sentences is improved, the removal of short and suspended sentences of imprisonment as sentencing options may lead to an even greater number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders going to jail. Improving access to community-based sentences is necessary to reduce the incarceration rates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders. Once community-based sentences are uniformly available, consideration could be given to abolishing short terms of imprisonment and suspended sentences.

#### **Mandatory sentencing**

Evidence suggests that mandatory sentencing increases incarceration, is costly, and is not effective as a crime deterrent. Mandatory sentencing may also disproportionately affect particular groups within society, including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples—especially those found guilty of property crime.

In **Chapter 8**, the ALRC recommends that Commonwealth, state and territory governments should repeal sentencing provisions that impose mandatory or presumptive terms of imprisonment upon conviction of an offender, and that have a disproportionate impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. This chapter further highlights those mandatory sentences attached to offences that have been identified by stakeholders as having a disproportionate impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. The ALRC suggests that states and territories do further work to identify and repeal mandatory sentence provisions that in practice have a disproportionate impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

#### **Prison programs and parole**

The rate of previous imprisonment for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people is high—up to 76% of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners in 2016 had been imprisoned previously, compared with 49% of the non-Indigenous prison population. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners are more likely to have been in prison at least five times previously, and are less likely than non-Indigenous prisoners to have never been in prison before. Most repeat offenders had previously received a prison sentence, and generate churn in the prison system.

Prison programs that address known causes of offending—such as poor literacy, lack of vocational skills, drug and alcohol abuse, poor mental health, poor social and family ties—may provide some of the supports needed to reduce the rates of repeat offending by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. While prison programs designed for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners are offered in most states and territories, these programs mostly apply to prisoners serving lengthy sentences, and are generally designed for male offenders.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners require assistance to address offending behaviours and to transition back into the community. For female offenders in particular, programs need to be trauma-informed and culturally safe. In **Chapter 9**, the ALRC recommends that prison programs be developed with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations. The programs should be made available to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people serving short sentences or held on remand. Additionally, programs designed for female Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners should be developed, designed and delivered by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations.

The ALRC recognises the critical role that release on parole has in assisting offenders to transition out of prison and reintegrate into society. To this end, the ALRC also recommends reforms that aim to encourage, first, eligible Aboriginal and Torres Strait

16

Summary Report
----------------

Islander prisoners to apply for parole and, secondly, the development of throughcare programs that provide ongoing support following release from prison.

#### Access to justice

'Access to justice' is an essential element of the rule of law. It refers to the need to ameliorate or remove barriers to access and to ensure that legal and judicial outcomes are just and equitable. It is enshrined in Article 14 of the *International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights*.

In **Chapter 10**, the ALRC focuses on specific access to justice issues faced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people appearing as defendants before the criminal justice system. The ALRC makes a suite of recommendations targeted at addressing the complex legal needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and improving the experience of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with the courts. The ALRC recommends that, where needed, state and territory governments should establish interpreter services within the criminal justice system, and should establish specialist Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sentencing courts. The ALRC also recommends that, where a person is found unfit to stand trial, state and territory governments should introduce special hearing processes that provide for a fixed term of detention and regular periodic reviews while the person remains in detention.

The chapter also highlights the need for adequate resourcing of legal assistance providers. Access to legal representation and advice is one of the cornerstones of addressing the disproportionate rates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration. In the absence of legal representation and advice, a defendant may be incarcerated for a range of reasons, including an inappropriate guilty plea, and a lack of awareness of available defences or pleas in mitigation.

#### Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women

In **Chapter 11**, the ALRC contextualises Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander female offending within experiences of intergenerational trauma, family and sexual violence, child removal, mental illness and disability, and poverty. The ALRC argues that strategies that aim to address the offending of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women must take a trauma-informed and culturally appropriate approach. To this end, the ALRC recommends that all criminal justice responses should be developed with and delivered by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women.

The ALRC briefly reviews some of the alternatives to incarceration, including holistic, trauma-informed diversion programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women who have experienced deep and intergenerational trauma. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women constitute a fast growing group in the prison population, yet the historically low numbers of female Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders— and misunderstandings of their criminogenic needs—has meant that few appropriately-designed criminal justice responses are available.

Female Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders are likely to have been victims, often of family violence, and the ALRC makes recommendations to enhance police responses to family violence in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.

### **Fines and driver licences**

Statutory fine enforcement regimes affect Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people unduly and can result in incarceration. Imprisonment is a disproportionate response to fine default, and impacts especially on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women. In **Chapter 12**, the ALRC recommends the amendment of fine enforcement regimes so that they do not, directly or indirectly, allow for imprisonment.

The imposition of fines and fine enforcement regimes affect Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people disproportionately. Fine enforcement regimes can aggravate criminogenic factors and operate to further entrench disadvantage, especially when the penalty for default or secondary offending includes further fines, driver licence suspension or disqualification, and imprisonment.

The ALRC makes recommendations to increase the efficacy and decrease the harm caused to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people by the imposition of fines. These include decreasing the size of fines, limiting the issue of infringement notices, the nationwide adoption of Work and Development Orders based on the New South Wales model, and the provision of a discretion to skip driver licence suspension where the person in fine default is vulnerable, supported by statutory guidelines for state debt recovery agencies. These are not standalone recommendations and, together with the abolition of imprisonment, seek to make fine systems and fine enforcement regimes fairer and more responsive to the circumstances of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, especially in regional or remote locations.

The ALRC further discusses two key pathways for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people into fine enforcement, namely offensive language provisions and driving without a licence.

#### Alcohol

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are less likely to drink alcohol than non-Indigenous people, but those who do drink, are more likely to drink at harmful levels. In **Chapter 13** the ALRC looks at the harmful use of alcohol in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and the links between alcohol, offending and incarceration.

The ALRC outlines a range of responses that have been adopted to address alcoholrelated offending, including liquor accords, restrictions on the sale of alcohol, banned drinkers registers and mandatory treatment programs and makes two recommendations for reform. First, the ALRC recommends that all initiatives to reduce the harmful effects of alcohol in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities should be developed with, and led by, these communities to meet their particular needs. Secondly, it recommends that Commonwealth, state and territory governments should enable and provide support to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities that wish to address alcohol misuse to develop and implement local liquor accords; to develop plans to prevent the sale of full strength alcohol; or to reduce the availability of particular alcohol ranges or products within their communities.

18

### **Police accountability**

In **Chapter 14**, the ALRC recognises the good work undertaken by police officers on a daily basis, often in difficult and dangerous circumstances, and that Commonwealth, state and territory police have undertaken significant reforms to culture, policy and practice in recent years to improve relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, examples of which are provided in this chapter.

Notwithstanding those measures, throughout this Inquiry, the ALRC heard that many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people continue to have negative attitudes towards police, holding the view that the law is applied unfairly and that complaints about police practices are not taken seriously. It is clear that those perceptions have strong historical antecedents, and there is evidence that the law is applied unequally—for example, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people are less likely to be cautioned and more likely to be charged than non-Indigenous young people.

The ALRC suggests that the perception of poor police practices needs to be addressed in order to improve relationships between police and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. Poor relations influence how often Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people interact with police and how they respond in interactions with police. Poor police relations can contribute to the disproportionate arrest, police custody and incarceration rates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. It may also undermine police investigations.

The ALRC recommends that police practices and procedures—particularly the exercise of police discretion—are reviewed by governments so that the law is applied equally and without discrimination with respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. The ALRC also recommends that police complaints handling mechanisms be reviewed, particularly addressing the perception by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people that their complaints are not taken seriously and that police misconduct is not addressed. Mechanisms for independent assessment or review of complaints should be considered.

The implementation of these two recommendations will require further consultation with Commonwealth, state and territory police and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. Such consultation can assist in finding an appropriate balance to enable efficient policing with strong internal management structures, ensure that police practices and procedures are applied equally, and make certain that investigations of complaints about police misconduct are, and are seen to be, thorough, transparent and fair.

The ALRC further recommends a range of initiatives that could be implemented to improve police culture. In particular, it suggests that successful initiatives are acknowledged and, where possible, scaled up.

**Chapter 14** also deals with the gap in the provision of custody notification services that provide 24-hour, 7-day a week telephone legal advice services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people who have been detained in police custody. The ALRC recommends that a requirement to notify an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander legal

service be provided for in statute and that it extends to detention in custody for any reason—including for protective reasons.

#### Child protection and adult incarceration

Research suggests that the relationship between the child protection system, juvenile justice and adult incarceration is so strong that child removal into out-of-home care and juvenile detention could be considered key drivers of adult incarceration.

While child protection and juvenile detention fall outside the scope of this Inquiry, in **Chapter 15**, the ALRC recommends that a national review of the child protection laws and processes that affect Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children should be undertaken.

## **Criminal justice targets and Aboriginal Justice Agreements**

Reducing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander incarceration requires a coordinated governmental response, and effective collaboration with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. In **Chapter 16**, the ALRC makes two recommendations that aim to improve both of these. It recommends that there should be national targets to reduce both the rate of incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, and the rate of violence against Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. These goals are interrelated, and will facilitate improvements not only in the rate at which Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people come in contact with the criminal justice system, but also in community safety.

The ALRC also recommends that Aboriginal Justice Agreements should be in place in states and territories. The success of many of the recommendations made in this Report relies on the development of collaborative relationships between government and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations. Aboriginal Justice Agreements can provide a foundation on which to facilitate, build, and solidify these relationships.

# The law reform process

The scope of each ALRC inquiry is defined by the Terms of Reference. The recommendations for reform must sit within this scope and need to be built on an appropriate conceptual framework and evidence base.

A major aspect of building the evidence base to support the formulation of ALRC recommendations for reform is consultation, acknowledging that widespread community consultation is a hallmark of best practice law reform. Pursuant to section 38 of the *Australian Law Reform Commission Act 1996* (Cth), the ALRC 'may inform itself in any way it thinks fit' for the purposes of reviewing or considering anything that is the subject of an inquiry.

The process for each law reform project may differ according to the scope of the inquiry, the range of stakeholders, the complexity of the laws under review, and the period of time allotted for the inquiry, as set out in the Terms of Reference. For each inquiry, the ALRC determines a consultation strategy in response to its particular subject matter and likely stakeholder interest groups. While the exact procedure is

Summary	Report
---------	--------

tailored to suit each inquiry, the ALRC usually works within an established framework, outlined on the ALRC website.

#### **Community consultation**

The ALRC undertook a national consultation process to gain an understanding of the key issues in the Inquiry, and the broader context in which Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are incarcerated. The ALRC conducted 149 consultations with key stakeholders across the country. A list of those consulted is included in this Report. The ALRC received 121 public and six confidential submissions in response to a Discussion Paper published on 19 July 2017. These submissions came from a wide range of people and organisations, including: individuals in their private capacity; academics; lawyers; Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and legal services; law societies and representative groups; legal aid organisations; community legal advocacy groups; peak bodies; and state and territory governments. Consultations and submissions, together with other research, including earlier reports and inquiries, have informed the recommendations for reform in this Report. The ALRC thanks all stakeholders for the important contribution they have made to our evidence base.

#### **Appointed experts**

In addition to the contribution of expertise by way of consultations and submissions, specific expertise is also received by the ALRC from members of its Advisory Committee and part-time Commissioners. The Advisory Committee met on three occasions during the course of the Inquiry. A list of Advisory Committee members is included at the front of this Report. While ultimate responsibility for the recommendations lies with the Commissioners of the ALRC, Advisory Committee members provide quality assurance in the consultation and research process, assist in the identification of key issues, and contribute to the determination of the final recommendations. The ALRC acknowledges the considerable contribution made by the Advisory Committee members, our part-time Commissioners, and expert readers and expresses its gratitude to them for voluntarily providing their time and expertise.

# Outcomes

Implementation of the recommendations in this Report will reduce the disproportionate rate of incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and improve community safety. These recommendations will:

- promote substantive equality before the law for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples;
- promote fairer enforcement of the law and fairer application of legal frameworks;
- ensure Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander leadership and participation in the development and delivery of strategies and programs for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in contact with the criminal justice system;

- reduce recidivism through the provision of effective diversion, support and rehabilitation programs;
- make available to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders alternatives to imprisonment that are appropriate to the offence and the offender's circumstances; and
- promote justice reinvestment through redirection of resources from incarceration to prevention, rehabilitation and support, in order to reduce reoffending and the long-term economic cost of incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

Reduced incarceration and greater support for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in contact with the criminal justice system will, in turn, improve health, social and economic outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

# Recommendations

# 4. Justice Reinvestment

**Recommendation 4–1** Commonwealth, state and territory governments should provide support for the establishment of an independent justice reinvestment body. The purpose of the body should be to promote the reinvestment of resources from the criminal justice system to community-led, place-based initiatives that address the drivers of crime and incarceration, and to provide expertise on the implementation of justice reinvestment.

Its functions should include:

- providing technical expertise in relation to justice reinvestment;
- assisting in developing justice reinvestment plans in local sites; and
- maintaining a database of evidence-based justice reinvestment strategies.

The justice reinvestment body should be overseen by a board with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander leadership.

**Recommendation 4–2** Commonwealth, state and territory governments should support justice reinvestment trials initiated in partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, including through:

- facilitating access to localised data related to criminal justice and other relevant government service provision, and associated costs;
- supporting local justice reinvestment initiatives; and
- facilitating participation by, and coordination between, relevant government departments and agencies.

# 5. Bail

**Recommendation 5–1** State and territory bail laws should be amended to include standalone provisions that require bail authorities to consider any issues that arise due to a person's Aboriginality, including cultural background, ties to family and place, and cultural obligations. These would particularly facilitate release on bail with effective conditions for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people who are accused of low-level offending.

The Bail Act 1977 (Vic) incorporates such a provision.

As with all other bail considerations, the requirement to consider issues that arise due to a person's Aboriginality would not supersede considerations of community safety.

**Recommendation 5–2** State and territory governments should work with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations to:

- develop guidelines on the application of bail provisions requiring bail authorities to consider any issues that arise due to a person's Aboriginality, in collaboration with peak legal bodies; and
- identify gaps in the provision of culturally appropriate bail support programs and diversion options, and develop and implement relevant bail support and diversion options.

# 6. Sentencing and Aboriginality

**Recommendation 6–1** Sentencing legislation should provide that, when sentencing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders, courts take into account unique systemic and background factors affecting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

**Recommendation 6–2** State and territory governments, in partnership with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations, should develop and implement schemes that would facilitate the preparation of 'Indigenous Experience Reports' for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders appearing for sentence in superior courts.

**Recommendation 6–3** State and territory governments, in partnership with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and communities, should develop options for the presentation of information about unique systemic and background factors that have an impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in the courts of summary jurisdiction, including through Elders, community justice groups, community profiles and other means.

# 7. Community-based Sentences

**Recommendation 7–1** State and territory governments should work with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and community organisations to improve access to community-based sentencing options for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders, by:

- expanding the geographic reach of community-based sentencing options, particularly in regional and remote areas;
- providing community-based sentencing options that are culturally appropriate; and
- making community-based sentencing options accessible to offenders with complex needs, to reduce reoffending.

**Recommendation 7–2** Using the Victorian Community Correction Order regime as an example, state and territory governments should implement community-based sentencing options that allow for the greatest flexibility in sentencing structure and the imposition of conditions to reduce reoffending.

24

**Recommendation 7–3** State and territory governments and agencies should work with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations to provide the necessary programs and support to facilitate the successful completion of community-based sentences by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders.

**Recommendation 7–4** In the absence of the availability of appropriate community-based sentencing options, suspended sentences should not be abolished.

**Recommendation 7–5** In the absence of the availability of appropriate community-based sentencing options, short sentences should not be abolished.

# 8. Mandatory Sentencing

**Recommendation 8–1** Commonwealth, state and territory governments should repeal legislation imposing mandatory or presumptive terms of imprisonment upon conviction of an offender that has a disproportionate impact on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

# 9. Prison Programs and Parole

**Recommendation 9–1** State and territory corrective services agencies should develop prison programs with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations that address offending behaviours and/or prepare people for release. These programs should be made available to:

- prisoners held on remand;
- prisoners serving short sentences; and
- female Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners.

**Recommendation 9–2** To maximise the number of eligible Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prisoners released on parole, state and territory governments should:

- introduce statutory regimes of automatic court-ordered parole for sentences of under three years, supported by the provision of prison programs for prisoners serving short sentences; and
- abolish parole revocation schemes that require the time spent on parole to be served again in prison if parole is revoked.

# **10.** Access to Justice

**Recommendation 10–1** State and territory governments should work with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations to:

- establish interpreter services within the criminal justice system where needed; and
- monitor and evaluate their use.

**Recommendation 10–2** Where needed, state and territory governments should establish specialist Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sentencing courts. These courts should incorporate individualised case management, wraparound services, and be culturally competent, culturally safe and culturally appropriate.

**Recommendation 10–3** Relevant Aboriginal Torres Strait Islander organisations should play a central role in the design, implementation and evaluation of specialist Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sentencing courts.

**Recommendation 10–4** Where not already in place, state and territory governments should introduce special hearing processes to make qualified determinations regarding guilt after a person is found unfit to stand trial.

**Recommendation 10–5** Where not already in place, state and territory governments should implement Recommendation 7–2 of the ALRC Report *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws* to provide for a fixed term when a person is found unfit to stand trial and ensure regular periodic review while that person is in detention.

# **11. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women**

**Recommendation 11–1** Programs and services delivered to female Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders within the criminal justice system—leading up to, during and post-incarceration—should take into account their particular needs so as to improve their chances of rehabilitation, reduce their likelihood of reoffending and decrease their involvement with the criminal justice system. Such programs and services, including those provided by NGOs, police, courts and corrections, must be:

- developed with and delivered by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women; and
- trauma-informed and culturally appropriate.

**Recommendation 11–2** Police engaging with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities should receive instruction in best practice for handling allegations and incidents of family violence—including preventative intervention and prompt response—in those communities.

# **12. Fines and Driver Licences**

**Recommendation 12–1** Fine default should not result in the imprisonment of the defaulter. State and territory governments should abolish provisions in fine enforcement statutes that provide for imprisonment in lieu of, or as a result of, unpaid fines.

**Recommendation 12–2** State and territory governments should work with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations to develop options that:

- reduce the imposition of fines and infringement notices;
- limit the penalty amounts of infringement notices;

- avoid suspension of driver licences for fine default; and
- provide alternative ways of paying fines and infringement notices.

**Recommendation 12–3** State and territory governments should work with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations and community organisations to identify areas without services relevant to driver licensing and to provide those services, particularly in regional and remote communities.

**Recommendation 12–4** State and territory governments should review the effect on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples of statutory provisions that criminalise offensive language with a view to:

- repealing the provisions; or
- narrowing the application of those provisions to language that is abusive or threatening.

# 13. Alcohol

**Recommendation 13–1** All initiatives to reduce the harmful effects of alcohol in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities should be developed with, and led by, these communities to meet their particular needs.

**Recommendation 13–2** Commonwealth, state and territory governments should enable and provide support to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities that wish to address alcohol misuse to:

- develop and implement local liquor accords; and/or
- develop plans to prevent the sale of full strength alcohol or reduce the availability of particular alcohol ranges or products within their communities.

# **14.** Police Accountability

**Recommendation 14–1** Commonwealth, state and territory governments should review police procedures and practices so that the law is enforced fairly, equally and without discrimination with respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

**Recommendation 14–2** To provide Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities with greater confidence in the integrity of police complaints handling processes, Commonwealth, state and territory governments should review their police complaints handling mechanisms to ensure greater practical independence, accountability and transparency of investigations.

**Recommendation 14–3** Commonwealth, state and territory governments should introduce a statutory requirement for police to contact an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander legal service, or equivalent service, as soon as possible after an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person is detained in custody for any reason—including for protective reasons. A maximum period within which the notification must occur should be prescribed.

**Recommendation 14–4** In order to further enhance cultural change within police that will ensure police practices and procedures do not disproportionately contribute to the incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, the following initiatives should be considered:

- increasing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employment within police;
- providing specific cultural awareness training for police being deployed to an area with a significant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population;
- providing for lessons from successful cooperation between police and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples to be recorded and shared;
- undertaking careful and timely succession planning for the replacement of key personnel with effective relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities;
- improving public reporting on community engagement initiatives with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples; and
- entering into Reconciliation Action Plans.

# **15. Child Protection and Adult Incarceration**

**Recommendation 15–1** Acknowledging the high rate of removal of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children into out-of-home care and the recognised links between out-of-home care, juvenile justice and adult incarceration, the Commonwealth Government should establish a national inquiry into child protection laws and processes affecting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children.

# 16. Criminal Justice Targets and Aboriginal Justice Agreements

**Recommendation 16–1** The Commonwealth Government, in consultation with state and territory governments, should develop national criminal justice targets. These should be developed in partnership with peak Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations, and should include specified targets by which to reduce the rate of:

- incarceration of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people; and
- violence against Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

**Recommendation 16–2** Where not currently operating, state and territory governments should renew or develop an Aboriginal Justice Agreement in partnership with relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations.

28

# **Participants**

# Australian Law Reform Commission

# President

Emeritus Professor Rosalind Croucher AM (until 28 July 2017) Mr Robert Cornall AO, Acting President (from 31 July–31 October 2017) Professor Helen Rhoades, Acting President (from 30 October–10 January 2018)

#### **Commissioner in charge**

His Honour Judge Matthew Myers AM, Federal Circuit Court of Australia, Adjunct Professor Faculty of Law, University of New South Wales

#### **Part-time Commissioners**

The Hon Justice John Middleton, Federal Court of Australia The Hon Justice Nye Perram, Federal Court of Australia (until May 2017)

# **Executive Director**

Sabina Wynn

#### **Principal Legal Officers**

Matt Corrigan (from August 2017) Sallie McLean

Vanessa Viaggio (until November 2017)

## **Senior Legal Officer**

Dr Julie MacKenzie (from June 2017)

### Legal Officer

Shreeya Smith (from August 2017)

# **Communications Manager**

Marie-Claire Muir

# **Project Coordinator**

Tina O'Brien

# **Research Officer**

Emma Bastable

# **Research on Incidence**

Associate Professor Anna Ferrante, PHRN Centre for Data Linkage, Faculty of Health Sciences, Curtin University

#### **Advisory Committee Members**

Councillor Roy Ah See, Prime Minister's Indigenous Advisory Council, Central Coast Associate Professor Thalia Anthony, Faculty of Law, University of Technology Sydney

Professor Larissa Behrendt, Director of Research, Jumbunna Indigenous House of Learning, University of Technology Sydney

Dr Harry Blagg, Professor of Criminology, Director of the Centre for Indigenous Peoples and Community Justice Law School, University of Western Australia

Professor Tom Calma AO, Consultant

Josephine Cashman, Lawyer

Professor Chris Cunneen, School of Social Sciences, Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of New South Wales

Professor Megan Davis, Indigenous Law Centre, University of New South Wales

Professor Mick Dodson AM, Australian National University

Dr Victoria Hovane, Tjallara Consulting

The Hon Bob Debus AM

Mick Gooda, Royal Commission into the Protection and Detention of Children in the Northern Territory

Adjunct Professor Russell Hogg, Crime and Justice Research Centre, Faculty of Law, Queensland University of Technology

Tony McAvoy SC, Frederick Jordan Chambers

Dr Hannah McGlade, School of Media, Culture and Creative Arts, Curtin University

Geoff McKechnie APM, Assistant Commissioner, NSW Police Force

Wayne Muir, CEO, Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service

Susan Murphy, Prime Minister's Indigenous Advisory Council

Commissioner Sally Sievers, Northern Territory Anti-Discrimination Commission

Professor Julie Stubbs, Faculty of Law, University of New South Wales

George Zdenkowski, Magistrate and Adjunct Professor, Faculty of Law, University of Tasmania

Pauline Wright, President, Law Society of New South Wales

#### **Legal Interns**

Noah Bedford Paige Bisset Umeya Chaudhuri Nicola Colagiuri Hanna Daych Isha Fay Darcy Jackman

30

Participants

Desiree Leha James Manoharachandran Ganur Maynard Taylah Mihell Sarah Moorhead Shirisha Nampalli Stephen O'Connell Muirgen O'Seighin Katie Price Madeleine Rice Erin Ryan Ann Wen **Aurora Scholarship** Declan Fry

# **Appendix 1. Consultations**

Name	Location
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal Service (Qld) Ltd	Teleconference—March
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Strategic Directions Steering Committee, NSW Police Force	Dubbo—February
Aboriginal Coordination Team, NSW Police Force	Sydney—April
Aboriginal Employment Programs Unit, NSW Police Force	Teleconference—March
Aboriginal Family Violence Prevention and Legal Service Victoria	Melbourne—April
Aboriginal Interpreter Service	Darwin—March
Aboriginal Legal Rights Movement	Adelaide—August
Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT)	Sydney—March
Aboriginal Legal Service of WA	Perth—March
ACT Government, Department of Justice	Canberra—August
ACT Law Reform Advisory Council: Dr Lorana Bartels, Head of School of Law and Justice, University of Canberra; Justice John Burns, ACT Supreme Court; Chief Magistrate Lorraine Walker, ACT Magistrates' Court; Martin Hockridge, Law Society of the ACT; David Heckendorf ; John Kalokerinos; Dr Fiona Tito Wheatland, Australian National University College of Law; Dr Helen Watchirs OAM, ACT Human Rights Commissioner	Canberra—August
ACT Law Society	Canberra—August

Amaroo Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders Justice Group: Mike Adam; Leila Savage (TSI); Bev Weatherall; Mervyn Weatherall; Lloyd Bealor; Roberta Stanley	Cairns—August
Associate Professor Thalia Anthony, Faculty of Law, University of Technology Sydney	Sydney—March
Zachary Armytage, Community Legal Centres NSW	Sydney—February and October
Australian Government, Attorney-General's Department	Canberra—August
Australian Government, Education, Community Safety and Health Division, Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet	Sydney—August
Australian Government, Indigenous Employment and Recognition Division, Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet	Canberra—August
Australian National University: Darcy Therese Jackman; Judith Harrison; Sharon Payne; Professor James Stellios; Mary Spiers Williams; Associate Professor Asmi Wood	Canberra—August
Australians for Native Title and Reconciliation	Brisbane—March
Justice Robert Benjamin AM, Family Court of Australia	Sydney—April
Magistrate Paul Bennett, Aboriginal Sentencing Courts—Nunga Court	Adelaide—August
Magistrate Trevor Black	Thursday Island—August
Dr Harry Blagg, Faculty of Law, University of Western Australia	Perth—March
Dr Harry Blagg, Faculty of Law, University of Western Australia; Dr Victoria Hovane, Tjallara Consulting; Dorinda Cox, Nyungar woman	Sydney—December

Hon. A/Judge Jennifer Boland AM, Deputy President and Head—Occupational Division, NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal	Sydney—June
Professor Stephen Bottomley FAAL, Professor and Dean, Australian National University	Canberra—August
Sean Brennan, Associate Professor and Director, Gilbert + Tobin Centre of Public Law, University of New South Wales	Sydney—November
Brisbane Murri Elders Community Justice Group	Brisbane—March
Justice Robert Bromwich SC, Federal Court of Australia	Sydney—September
Josephine Cashman, Riverview Global Partners	Sydney—March
Russel Cavanagh, Mid North Coast Community Legal Centre and Legal Aid	Sydney—February
Central Australia Women's Legal Service	Alice Springs—March
Central Australian Aboriginal Legal Aid Service	Alice Springs—March
Central Land Council	Alice Springs—March
Criminal Lawyers Association of the Northern Territory	Alice Springs—March
Danila Dilba Health Service	Darwin—March
Developmental Disability WA	Teleconference—April
Judge Roger Dive, Senior Judge, Drug Court of NSW	Sydney—March
Drug and Alcohol Services Association NT	Alice Springs—March
Peter Dwyer, Barrister	Sydney—April and August
Nick Eakin, Jawun General Manager, Regions	North Avoca—October
Helen Eason, Women's Justice Network	Sydney—November
First Nations Deaths in Custody Watch Committee	Perth—March

Sydney—October
Perth—March
Sydney—June
Teleconference—April
Teleconference—June
Darwin—March
Melbourne—April
Sydney—October
Sydney—October
Sydney—April
Sydney—March and October
Sydney—August
Canberra—August
Brisbane—March
Teleconference—May

Judge Peter Johnstone, President, Children's Court of NSW	Sydney—March
Just Reinvest NSW; Maranguka Justice Reinvestment Project; Bourke stakeholders	Bourke—July
Justice Health & Forensic Mental Health Network	Sydney—October
Koori Caucus, Victorian Aboriginal Justice Forum	Melbourne—April
Professor Marcia Langton AM, Faculty of Medicine, University of Melbourne	Melbourne—April
Chief Magistrate Peter Lauriston and Deputy Magistrate Jelena Popovic, Magistrates' Court of Victoria	Melbourne—April
Law Society of NSW	Sydney—March
Law Society of WA	Perth—March
Legal Aid ACT	Canberra—August
Legal Aid NSW	Sydney—March
Legal Aid NSW, Criminal Law Group	Sydney—May
Legal Aid Queensland	Brisbane— March
Legal Services Commission of SA	Adelaide—August
Legislation Policy and Programs Branch, Justice and Community Safety Directorate ACT	Teleconference—May
Mr Amos Lewin, Coordinator, Thursday Island Justice Committee; Chris White; Dorothy (Aunty); Riley (Uncle); Ivy (Aunty); Jennifer (Aunty)	Thursday Island—August
Making Justice Work Alliance	Darwin—March
Iri Mako, Manager—Mau Te Rongo, Justice Services MUMA, Auckland, New Zealand	Teleconference—July
Mayor Vonda Malone, Torres Shire Council	Thursday Island—August

Chief Justice Wayne Martin AC, Supreme Court of WA	Perth—March
C'Zarke Maza, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal Service (Qld) Ltd	Thursday Island—August
Tony McAvoy SC, Frederick Jordan Chambers, Sydney	Sydney—September
Rick McGarry, Australian National University	Sydney—December
Dr Hannah McGlade, Senior Indigenous Research Fellow, Curtin University	Sydney—April
Will McGregor, Chief Executive Officer, Bush Mob	Alice Springs—March
Alister McKeich, Senior Project Officer, Royal Commission and Specialist Projects, Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service	Sydney—August
Commissioner James McMahon, Corrective Services WA	Perth—March
The Miranda Project	Sydney—February
Charlie Mundine	Sydney—March
Warren Mundine AO	Sydney—April
National Land Council	Darwin—March
Neighbourhood Justice Centre, Magistrates' Court of Victoria: Magistrate David Fanning; Cameron Wallace; Kylie Smith	Melbourne—April
New Zealand Police and New Zealand Ministry of Justice	Sydney—October
Acting Police Commissioner Nicholls, NT Police	Darwin—March
Judge Stephen Norrish, District Court of NSW	Sydney—March
North Australian Aboriginal Family Legal Service	Darwin—March

Appendix 1. Consultations

North Australian Aboriginal Justice Agency	Darwin—March
Northern Territory Government, Department of the Attorney-General and Justice	Darwin—March
NSW Bar Association	Sydney—March
NSW Law Reform Commission	Sydney—March
NSW Sentencing Council	Sydney—February
NT Correctional Services	Darwin—March
NT Legal Aid Commission	Darwin—March
Office of Probation and Parole	Thursday Island—August
Office of Public Prosecutions, Victoria	Melbourne — April
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions, NSW	Sydney—February
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions, NT	Darwin—March
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions, Queensland	Brisbane —March
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions, WA	Perth—March
Cheryl Orr, Lawyer	Sydney—May
June Oscar AO, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner, Australian Human Rights Commission	Sydney—May and August
Noel Pearson, Cape York Institute for Policy and Leadership	Teleconference—May
Judge Derek Price AM, Chief Judge of the District Court of NSW	Sydney—March
Queensland Police	Brisbane—March
Queensland Police Services	Thursday Island—August

Queensland Sentencing Advisory Council	Brisbane—March
Commissioner Mark Rallings, Corrective Services Queensland	Brisbane—March
Reconciliation Australia	Sydney—October
Redfern Legal Service	Sydney—March
Peter Reeves, Developing Leaders Aboriginal Corporation, Peninsula Community Centre	Woy Woy—October
Joanne Selfe, Project Officer, Ngara Yura Program, Judicial Commission of NSW	Sydney—October and November
Commissioner Jan Shuard PSM, Corrective Services Victoria and Aboriginal Programs Unit, Victorian Department of Justice	Melbourne—April
Dr Dubravka Simonovic, UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women	Teleconference—February
Sisters Inside	Brisbane—March
South Australia Government, Department for Correctional Services and Attorney-General's Department	Adelaide—August
Betty Stefanovic, Community Corrections Bourke	Sydney—August
Supreme Court of Victoria: Chief Justice Marilyn Warren AC; Justice Stephen Kaye; Claire Downey	Melbourne—September
Tangentyere Council	Alice Springs—March
Maureen Tangney, Civil Justice Strategy, NSW Department of Justice	Sydney—March
Victoria Tauli-Corpuz, UN Special Rapporteur on the rights of indigenous peoples	Sydney—March
Brendan Thomas, Deputy Secretary, NSW Department of Justice	Sydney—March

Tjabal Centre, Auntie Anne Martin & Indigenous Students, Australian National University	Canberra—August
Top End Women's Legal Service	Darwin—March
Torres Strait Island Magistrates' Court Stakeholders	Thursday Island—August
Torres Strait Regional Authority (TSRA)	Thursday Island—August
Shane Tremble, General Manager, Endeavour Drinks Group	Sydney—May
University of New South Wales Roundtable: Emeritus Professor David Brown; Professor Chris Cunneen; Professor Luke McNamara; Melanie Schwartz; Julie Stubbs	Sydney—March
Victoria Police	Melbourne—April
Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service & National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal Services	Melbourne—April
Victorian Adult Parole Board: Peter Webster; Aunty Pam Pederson; Uncle Kevin Coombs OAM; Uncle Glenn James OAM	Melbourne—September
WA Bar Association	Teleconference — April
WA Police	Perth—March
Dr Don Weatherburn PSM, NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research	Sydney—February
Rick Welsh, Men's Health Information and Resource Centre, Western Sydney University	Sydney—March and May
Michael West, Metro Land Council and Trent Shepherd, Federal Circuit Court of Australia	Sydney—April
Western Australia Government, Department of the Attorney General	Perth—March
Wirringa Baiya Aboriginal Women's Legal Centre	Sydney—March

Women's Justice Network (formerly WIPAN)	Sydney—April
Pauline Wright, President, Law Society NSW	Sydney—March and September
Judge Dina Yehia, District Court of NSW	Sydney—March
Youth Justice, Department of Justice Queensland	Brisbane—March